ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE RESOURCES STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 12, 2007
1: 01 p. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Carl Gatto, Co-Chair
Representative Crai g Johnson, Co-Chair
Representative Vic Kohring
Represent ati ve Bob Roses
Represent ati ve Paul Seaton
Represent ati ve Peggy W1 son
Representati ve Bryce Edgnon
Representative David Guttenberg
Representative Scott Kawasaki

MEMBERS ABSENT
Al l menbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR
CS FOR SENATE BILL NO 46(RES)
"An Act relating to the Al aska coastal nmanagenent program
providing for an effective date by anending the effective date
of sec. 45, ch. 24, SLA 2003, as anended by sec. 21, ch. 31, SLA
2005; and providing for an effective date."”
- MOVED CSSB 46(RES) OUT OF COW TTEE
OVERVI EWS): COOK | NLET GAS: REALITY & EXPLORATI ON POTENTI AL
- HEARD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 46

SHORT TITLE: COASTAL MANAGEMENT PROGRAM
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) OLSON

01/ 16/ 07 (S) PREFI LE RELEASED 1/ 12/ 07

01/ 16/ 07 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS

01/ 16/ 07 (S) RES, FIN

01/ 29/ 07 (S) RES AT 3:30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

01/ 29/ 07 (S) Moved CSSB 46(RES) Qut of Committee
01/ 29/ 07 (S) M NUTE( RES)

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -1- February 12, 2007



01/ 31/ 07 (S) RES RPT CS 3DP 1INR  SAME TI TLE

01/ 31/ 07 (S) DP: HUGG NS, GREEN, STEDMAN

01/ 31/ 07 (S) NR. MCGU RE

01/ 31/ 07 (S) FI N REFERRAL WAl VED

02/ 07/ 07 (S) TRANSM TTED TO (H)

02/ 07/ 07 (S) VERS| ON:  CSSB 46( RES)

02/ 08/ 07 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 08/ 07 (H) RES

02/ 12/ 07 (H) RES AT 1: 00 PM CAPI TOL 124

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR DONNY OLSON

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Sponsor of SB 46.

DAVI D GRAY, Staff

to Senator Donny O son

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answered questions regardi ng SB 46.

RANDY BATES, Acting Director

O fice of Project Managenent and Permtting (OPMP)

Depart ment of Natural Resources (DNR)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified in support of 46 and answered
guesti ons.

TOM LOHMAN, W dlife Specialist

Department of W dlife Managenent

North Sl ope Borough;

Vi ce-Chair

Al aska Coastal District Association

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of CSSB 46( RES).

MARLENE CAMPBELL, Coastal Managenent Coordi nator
Government Rel ations Director

Cty and Borough of Sitka

Sitka, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of CSSB 46( RES).

GARY W LLI AMS, Coastal District Coordinator

Kenai Peni nsul a Borough
Sol dot na, Al aska

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 2- February 12, 2007



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of CSSB 46( RES).

CAROL SM TH, Pl anner/ Coastal Coordi nat or

City of Valdez

Val dez, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of CSSB 46(RES).

BOB SVENSQON, State Geol ogist, Acting Director

Central Ofice

Di vi sion of Ceol ogi cal & CGeophysical Surveys

Department of Natural Resources

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented an overview on Cook Inlet gas.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

COCHAIR CRAIG JOHNSON called the House Resources Standing

Commttee neeting to order at 1:01:28 PM Represent ati ves
Johnson, Gatto, Guttenberg, Edgnon, Kawasaki, Kohring, Seaton,
and Roses were present at the call to order. Representati ve

Wl son arrived as the neeting was in progress.

SB 46 - COASTAL MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

1: 01: 51 PM

CO CHAIR JOHNSON announced that the first order of business
woul d be CS FOR SENATE BILL NO 46(RES), "An Act relating to the
Al aska coastal managenent program providing for an effective
date by anmending the effective date of sec. 45, ch. 24, SLA
2003, as anended by sec. 21, ch. 31, SLA 2005; and providing for
an effective date.”

1: 02: 03 PM

SENATOR  DONNY  OLSON, Alaska State Legislature, sponsor,
paraphrased from the following sponsor statement [original
punct uation provided]:

Al aska’s Coastal WManagenent Program has undergone
maj or nodification in the |last several years under the
previ ous adm nistration. These changes required the
coastal zone managenent districts throughout the state
to conpl etely revise their managemnment pl ans.
Conpl i ance and approval of the new plans by both the
state and federal authorities nust be achieved before

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 3- February 12, 2007



the March 1, 2007 term nation date of their existing
pl ans.

O the 28 coastal managenent districts, 16 have new
pl ans that have been approved or are near approval.
O the remaining districts, 9 are still being revised
or are under review and 3 have requested nediation.
They are not likely to nmake the March 1 deadline. The
reasons nost often given for the delays are the
conplexity and extent of information required by the
Department of [Natural] Resources for justification of
the plan proposals. This is particularly true for
| ar ge districts wher e revi si ons to resour ces
inventories and analysis required significant effort.

CSSB 46(RES) acconplishes two things. First, it
extends the March 1 deadline for conpletion and
approval of district plans six nonths to Septenber 1.
Secondly, it extends a related deadline for the
designation of categorical and generally consistent
determ nations (the ABC list) six nonths al so.

| urge you to give favorable consideration of SB 46
and its inportance to 70% of Al aska’s coastal area and
t he people who call it hone.

SENATOR OLSON enphasized that CSSB 46(RES) is entirely focused
on extending the deadline from March 1 to Septenber 1, 2007. He
said that other related issues wll be carried forward in
anot her bill.

1: 04: 46 PM

CO CHAI R GATTO asked if the extension is sufficient to nmeet al
t he deadl i nes nenti oned.

SENATOR OLSON stated that he is not convinced it is, but it
provi des comrunities the opportunity to conplete revision of
their plans. One or two districts will probably have difficulty
maki ng t he Septenber 1 deadline, he said.

1: 05: 23 PM

CO CHAI R GATTO asked what happens for coastal zone managenent in
those districts that do not neet the deadline.

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -4- February 12, 2007



DAVID GRAY, Staff to Senator Donny dson, Alaska State
Legislature, related that +the admnistration supports the
Septenber deadl i ne. He further related that the coasta
districts are telling Senator A son that the six-nonth extension
is adequate and a good conprom se. He noted that extending the
deadl i ne beyond Septenber 1 al so has probl ens.

1: 07: 01 PM

CO- CHAIR GATTO inquired as to why CSSB 46(RES) is significantly
shorter than the original version.

SENATOR COLSON explained that the original bill had a section
dealing with federal |ands and federal |eases, which nmade the
bill nore conplicated than just extending the deadline. G ven
the tinme sensitivity of the deadline, he said, the bill was
anended to deal only with the deadline issue.

1: 07: 54 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG related his assunption that the
coastal zone managenent districts, along with their planning
process, had been elimnated during the Twenty-Third Al aska
State Legislature. He asked what transpired between then and
now.

SENATOR  OLSON of fered hi s bel i ef t hat t he previ ous
admnistration failed to understand the —conplexity and
detrinental effects that their actions would have on the coastal
comunities that wshed to have a say in fish, gas, and oil
I ssues.

1: 09: 00 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG i nquired as to whether there had been
a court case or other type of chall enge.

SENATOR COLSON said he did not know of any challenges in court,
but due to the immnent deadline three districts sought
resol utions through nedi ati on.

1:09: 32 PM
REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG asked what happens to a coastal

district as an entity if it is not in conpliance by the
Sept enber deadl i ne.

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 5- February 12, 2007



1:11:18 PM

RANDY BATES, Acting Director, Ofice of Project Mnagenent and
Permtting (OPMP), Departnment of  Natural Resources (DNR),
explained that OPMP is the |lead agency for inplenmenting the
Al aska Coastal Managenent Program (ACMP). He related that the
OPMP, DNR, and the Palin Admnistration support CSSB 46(RES).
He stated that OPMP w il continue working with the coasta
districts throughout the tinme extension to achieve conpliance
with their coastal prograns. He reported that OPMP has worked
with the districts over the past two years to ensure that the
districts understand the rules of witing enforceable policies
and that they are educated as to what they can and cannot do.
Once the districts have conpleted their plans, they wll submt
them to DNR The DNR will then evaluate the conpliance,
respond, and nake a recommendation to the comm ssioner. If the
policies are still nonconpliant wth the laws that govern the
coastal program they wll not be approved, he said. The
districts are trying to address issues that the state is already
addressing, which is not allowed and thus DNR di sapproved those
pl ans.

1:13: 58 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES inquired as to what action wll be taken
for those districts that are not in conpliance because they did
not submt a plan.

MR. BATES expl ai ned that coastal managenent in the state and for
the districts is voluntary. If a district voluntarily chooses
to participate, it can wite district plans according to rules
established by statute and regul ation. | f DNR determ nes that
the policies are nonconpliant, the departnent cannot approve the
policies, and the district does not get those policies. If the
district wites policies that are approvable, they becone |aw as
part of the coastal program that is inplemented uniformy
t hroughout the state by DNR, just as the departnent does for the
statutes and the regulations. He stated that a district would
not have a plan if DNR disapproved all of the policies included
in that plan. Absent a plan, he said, state |laws and standards

still apply to the entire coastal zone. Therefore, he stressed,
protection is not lost for resources or uses in a coastal zone
wi thout a district plan. I nstead, what a district |loses is the

| ocal perspective on how to gui de devel opnent in accordance with
ACWP

1:16: 22 PM

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 6- February 12, 2007



MR. BATES further explained that 1in any planning process
additional tinme wll always be requested for getting better
studies and information with which to prepare a better plan.
G ven the inplenentation of House Bill 191 in 2003 and given the
ei ght-nmonth extension afforded by Senate Bill 102 in 2005, he
stated that this additional six nonths should generally satisfy
the mpjority of the coastal districts seeking additional tine.
He enphasized that the districts nust realize this six-nonth
extension is it. The DNR is awaiting submssion of district
plans so it can finalize its review and nake sure it is done in
a manner that reaches conclusion by the now proposed Septenber 1
deadl i ne.

1:18: 02 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG asked what happens if the departnent
di sapproves or nodifies any of the program as referenced on page
1, lines 13-14, in CSSB 46(RES).

MR. BATES reported that this provision was passed by the
| egislature in 2003 and again ratified in 2005 through Senate
Bill 102. He noted that it is his task as acting director of
the executive branch to carry out the program and ensure that

the legislature's |anguage is inplenented. The departnent has
used this language to ternminate the plans of five coastal
districts that have never conplied with House Bill 191 by

drafting and submtting district plan revisions. The departnent
has not, wunder any other circunstance, taken any action to
di sapprove or nodify any other part of a program he enphasized.
Furthernmore, DNR has been inplenenting a provision in Senate
Bill 102 that requires elimnation of certain district policies
i f they duplicate or restate existing |aw, and this
i npl enmentation aligns itself wth this provision of CSSB 46( RES)
as well, he said.

1:19: 50 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG inquired as to whether a coastal zone
pl an becones null and void if it copies existing state statute.

MR. BATES answered, "Yes." If there is a provision in an
exi sting coastal district plan that restates or duplicates an
existing state or federal law, it is rendered null and void by
Senate Bill 102, he said. Elimnating that duplicity was one of
the basic tenants of reform of the coastal program back in 2003.

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -7- February 12, 2007



1:21:15 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG pointed out that sonetinmes it is

desirable to transfer authority to the Ilowest |evel, and
sonmetinmes not. He asked if there is any provision for
arbitration so that a district's entire plan IS not

automatically voided w thout the opportunity for discussing a
duplicative [provision].

MR. BATES related that nationally there are 35 coastal states,
and each state has an opportunity to develop a coastal program
that best fits its needs. Al aska has chosen to inplenment a
program that includes state laws from the various sister
agencies, such as the Ofice of Habitat Managenent and
Permitting, the Departnment of Environmental Conservation, and

the Division of Mning, Land and Water. He enphasized that
Al aska has also voluntarily chosen to include a |ocal conponent
— the state's coastal districts. This is a state program in

which the |ocal governnents play an inportant role in helping
determ ne whether projects are conpliant wth district plans,
the state standards, and the existing state and federal |aw.

1:23: 30 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON asked whether |ocal coastal district plans
could speak to an "issue" that is already addressed in state
I aw.

MR. BATES responded that there are regulations that state what a
district can and cannot wite. He said there is also statutory
| anguage that says a district may not address a matter already

covered by an existing state agency authority — wunless the
matter is not adequately addressed. If a district denonstrates
that an issue is inadequately addressed, then it can delve into
the topic. He outlined the context: Is the resource covered

and is the nanagenent and protection provided? |If it is not and
it is within the bounds of what the state has witten as far as
a coastal program then the district could address the issue.
M. Bates further stated that DNR has, under all circunstances,
objectively reviewed and evaluated all of the district plans as
to whether they conply with state | aws.

1:27:40 PM
COCHAIR JOHNSON surmsed that the state will wite a plan

wi thout local input for any coastal district that fails to neet
t he planning deadline or that has its plan denied by DNR

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 8- February 12, 2007



MR. BATES answered affirmatively. He noted that state |law still
applies to a coastal zone regardless of whether there is a
district plan. District plans sinply provide a local flavor to
the program he said.

1:28: 06 PM
REPRESENTATI VE SEATON queried as to whether a district would be
termnated if its plan is not submtted and/or approved by the

deadl i ne.

MR. BATES stated that there is no elimnation of districts. He
cited the comunities of Angoon, Hydaburg, Kl awock, St. Paul,

Kake, Wangell, and Petersburg as exanples of coastal districts
wi thout plans. They will remain coastal districts and DNR wi |

still involve them in discussions regarding coastal nmanagenent.
However, he stressed, they will not have a seat at the table

during a consistency review of a project, and therefore no due
deference in the interpretation of |aws.

1: 29: 32 PM

MR. BATES enphasized that a district gains due deference and a
seat at the table with an approved district plan that has
enforceabl e policies. Absent those policies and absent an
effective district plan, the state still inplenments the program
at a state |evel, he said. Districts without plans could still
comment and participate through ACMP consistency procedures and
t hrough any solicitation for public conmment on federal or state
agency permts.

1: 30: 21 PM

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON asked whether a community could re-submt
a plan by Septenber 1, 2007, if its previous plan was denied
She also inquired as to whether a district could deny a permt
request before it reached the state |evel.

MR. BATES said that if a plan is not conpliant, DNR tells the
district what it can do to achi eve conpliance. If the district
is trying to wite about an aspect of resource that is already
covered by existing law, DNR educates the district on how the

coverage is provided. If the coverage is inadequate, DNR
instructs the district on how to craft its enforceable policies
in order to get to the issue. At this point, he stressed, he

did not expect any district to come in with a plan that DNR has

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 9- February 12, 2007



not yet seen because it is only a matter of refining plans and
accepting what the rules are.

MR. BATES then stated that a local district could deny a permt
under the coastal program because regulation allows coastal
districts to identify areas that are inportant to them such as
tourism recreation, subsistence use, or habitat. He said that
if a district can draw a boundary around a specific area that
needs to be maintained for a particular reason, the district
could then disqualify or disallow certain uses in that area
However, he enphasized, a district cannot preenpt uses that the
state <considers inportant for the preservation of health,
safety, or econony, such as oil and gas opportunities.

1:34:01 PM

REPRESENTATI VE EDGVON noted that there are three coastal plans
currently in mediation and that some others will soon be in
medi ati on. What happens to the funding stream if these plans

are not submtted by the Septenber 1 deadline, he asked.

MR. BATES predicted that 26 of the 28 districts will be finished
by the Septenber 1 extension deadline. He said he expects that
nmediation with the three districts will be resolved and their
pl ans approved and in place before the deadline. The departnent
will continue working with the two remaining districts, and any
others that may be |anguishing, to get them to approval. He
stressed that funding is continuous for all of the districts
that are nmaking progress and are participating in the program
The 28 coastal districts receive an average of $1 mllion
annually in state and federal funds to ensure that they are
i npl enenting the program for thenselves and for the state's
pur poses.

1: 36: 09 PM

REPRESENTATI VE EDGVON asked if this neans a district would still
receive funding even if its plan is not approved by Septenber 1

MR. BATES indicated that funding for districts that fail to neet
t he deadline depends on whether the district is making progress
on its plan. The departnment has not heard from a couple of
districts, he said, and it would nmake no sense to continue
funding a district if it has no intention of revising its plan.

1: 36: 45 PM

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -10- February 12, 2007



TOM  LOHMAN, Wldlife Specialist, Depart ment of Widlife
Managenment, North Slope Borough; Vice Chair, Al aska Coastal
District Association, supported CSSB 46(RES). The North Sl ope
Borough needs the extension, he said, in order to successfully
conplete its district plan revision. He noted that in terns of
coastal area, the North Slope District has the second largest in
the state. He agreed with M. Bates that 26 of the 28 active

coastal districts wll have approved plans in place by the
ext ended deadl i ne. However, he stressed, very few districts
will be satisfied with their approved plan. M. Lohman took

issue with M. Bates' statenents about educating the districts.
He said that over the past three years the North Sl ope Borough
has been continually surprised with regard to where it stands
with DNR  The borough, he stressed, has found it inpossible to
craft policies on subsistence and activities in outer
continental shelf waters, two topics of extreme inportance to
t he borough. He also noted that the lack of continuity in DNR s
staff over the past three years has resulted in interpretations
changi ng nunmerous tinmes. \Wile there mght be other vehicles to
address sone of those differing interpretations, the deadline
extension is essential for the North Sl ope Borough, he advised.

1: 40: 01 PM

MARLENE CAMPBELL, Coastal Managenent Coordinator, Governnent
Rel ations Director, City and Borough of Sitka, supported M.
Lohman's statenents and thanked Senator O son for the bill. She
said that many districts are facing extinguishnment of their
progranms until their new plans are in place on March 1. Sitka
has done everything in its power to conply with deadlines, she
expl ai ned. The state has done three major reviews, and each
time has changed Sitka's plan by forcing renoval of nore of the
district's enforceable policies. The district, she opined, now
has less than half of what it once did. Furthernore, what is
left is not nearly as protective as they had hoped it would be.
Sitka submtted its final plan anendnent by the August 10,
[ 2006] deadl i ne. However, Sitka did not hear back from the

state until the comm ssioner's Novenber 24, [2006,] approval,
whi ch required renoval of yet nore of the district's enforceable
pol i ci es. Sitka deleted the policies and subnitted its revised

plan on January 5, 2007, but this docunment was not submitted to
the National GOceanic and Atnospheric Adm nistration (NOAA) for
federal approval until January 22, she said. Ms. Canpbel
enphasi zed that because of the tinmefrane there is no way Sitka's
plan can actually be in operation by March 1, and the extension
will afford continuity of the district's plans.

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -11- February 12, 2007



1:42: 37 PM

GARY WLLIAMS, Coastal District Coordinator, Kenai Peninsula
Borough, stated that the bill is necessary because 14 coasta

district plans will expire if the legislation is not passed.
Ni ne of these are the |argest of the coastal districts, and this
i ncludes the Kenai Peninsula Borough's district, he said. The
task of updating the coastal district plans to conform to
| egi sl ation has been a daunting task, not only for the coasta

districts but also for OPM. This effort has turned out to be
much nore conplex and tinme consumng than anyone could have

foreseen, he enphasized. Wth at least nine of the districts
certain to mss the deadline, he stated, it only nakes sense to
provide an extension of tinme because an extension will have no

negative effect on any person or process.
1:44:13 PM

CAROL SM TH, Pl anner/ Coast al Coordinator, City of Valdez,
testified that the [Valdez Coastal Managenent District] fully
supports passage of CSSB 46 (RES). She said that the district
had successfully nmet all of the programis deadlines so far
because of the district's small size and a consultant's help.
The district received notice of approval of its revised plan on
Decenber 13, 2006. However, she continued, the district is now
behind in finishing its plan because the director was out of the
office for three nonths due to an autonobile accident. Although
the state has been helpful in working through nost situations,
she stated, the Valdez district believes the deadline extension
will make it possible for nost districts to finish their plans.

1:46: 01 PM

CO CHAI R JOHNSON cl osed public testinony after ascertaining that
there was no one else wishing to testify.

1:46: 21 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG asked whether the sponsor would be
proposi ng other legislation to deal with the other issues.

SENATOR COLSON said, "Yes."
1: 46: 39 PM

CO- CHAIR GATTO noved to report CSSB 46(RES) out of conmttee
with individual recomendations and the acconpanying fiscal

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -12- February 12, 2007



notes. There being no objection, CSSB 46(RES) was reported from
t he House Resources Standing Commttee.
The comm ttee took an at-ease from1:47:27 PMto 1:50:43 PM

OVERVI EW  COCK I NLET GAS: REALITY & EXPLORATI ON POTENTI AL

1: 50: 43 PM

CO CHAI R JOHNSON announced that the |ast order of business would
be an overview presented by the D vision of Ceological &
Geophysi cal Surveys - Cook Inlet Gas: Reality & Exploration
Pot enti al .

1:50: 55 PM
BOB SWENSON, State GCeologist, Acting Drector, Central Ofice

Division of Ceological & GCeophysical Surveys, Departnent of
Nat ural Resources, presented an overview entitled, "Al aska Gas

Exploration Potential — The Cook Inlet and O her Basins". He
first reviewed five "Take Hone Points": 1) Because of market
i ssues, focused exploration for natural gas in Al askan basins is
inits infancy; 2) O the 36+ trillion cubic feet (tcf) of gas
reserves, nearly all was discovered while |ooking for oil; 3)

Publ i shed resource assessnents often have very |arge associ ated
"error bars,"” variation assessnents; 4) Significant exploration
potential exists in a nunber of basins across the state, however
econonmi cs and access to market will play key roles in |evel of
activity; 5 In the Cook Inlet, nost of the easy and
i nexpensi ve gas has been found and del i neat ed.

1: 53: 38 PM

MR. SVENSON poi nted out that the map of Alaska on slide 4 of his
Power Poi nt presentation clearly shows that a significant anount
of land in the state has no existing infrastructure. He noted
that the polygon superinposed on the map delineates the size of
Col orado in conparison to Al aska. Sedi mrentary basins with oi
and gas potential are shown in yellow, he explained, and the
dom nant hydrocarbon potential in nost of the basins is gas.

1: 54: 44 PM

MR. SWENSON advised that there is significant gas potential in
the Colville Basin adjacent to the Brooks Range and in the
of fshore basins of the Beaufort and Chukchi seas. He noted that
nost of the exploration on the North Slope has been focused on
the Barrow Arch shown on slide 5 and that this is where Prudhoe

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -13- February 12, 2007



Bay is | ocated. He pointed out that the |lands colored in red
are state acreage and the rest is federal acreage.

1:55: 56 PM

VR. SVWENSON reported that the division has conducted a
significant amount of surveying along the front of the Brooks
Range looking at the geology as well as the hydrocarbon
potential. Referring to the satellite inmage of the Brooks Range
on slide 6, he explained that the lighter colored polygons
indicate the areas that have been nmapped by the division. He
then noved to slide 7 showing a close-up inmage of the area near
Anakt uvuk Pass where nunerous |eases have been purchased over
the last three years.

1:56: 51 PM

MR. SVENSON further advised that the North Al eutian Basin shown
on slide 8 also has significant gas potential. The red |ines
delineate the annual areawide sale for onshore and offshore
state acreage, he said. The varying shades of grey on the map
indicate the thickness of the basin — light grey signifies where
the basin thins dramatically to the north and black signifies
where the basin thickens significantly as it reaches onshore
ar eas.

1:57: 30 PM
MR. SVENSON noted that slide 9 shows the seismic interpretation

for the Bristol Bay offshore region where Shell and Hewtt
M neral Corporation purchased |eases during the first annual

| ease sale [in 2005]. The thick 150-mle-long "sedinentary
package" shown on the slide indicates significant exploration
potential, he said. To illustrate the imensity of the Bristo

Bay region he noved to slide 10 where an outline of the Arctic
National WIldlife Refuge 1002 area is superinposed within the
bay.

1: 59: 27 PM

MR. SVENSON described the Gulf of Alaska depicted on slide 11 as
a "sleeper area." The green dots indicate onshore oil seeps
along the gulf, he explained, and the red dots indicate onshore
and offshore wells drilled between the 1950s and 1982. The
geol ogi cal cross section drawn at the bottom of the slide shows
that the area is a classic thrust belt, he said, and all the
tertiary sedinents that contain the hydrocarbon potential are

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -14- February 12, 2007



caught up in this thrust belt. The GQulf of Alaska is one of the
ol dest oil provinces in the state — 300,000 barrels of oil were
produced in the early 1900s before the local refinery burned
down. He said the natural oil seep shown on slide 12 is |ocated
on Brower Ri dge and seeps about a barrel of oil per day.

MR. SVENSON enphasized that the resource assessnment nunbers on
slide 13 are estimates for the "technically recoverable” gas in
Al aska and do not include an "economc filter." For a near-
field area, the econom c recoverable reserve estimate would be
very close to the technically recoverable nunber, he said;
however, the nunbers for reserves located far away from
infrastructure would be quite different. He explained that the
estimates are a range of nunbers because they are "probabilistic
estimates"” conpiled fromall the different data sources. Usi ng
t he Chukchi Sea as an exanple, he pointed out that the estinmated
reserve is an extrenely large range of 13.6 - 154.3 tcf. In a
probability distribution the smaller nunber of the range is the
95th percentile, nmeaning there is a 95 percent chance that the
anmount of the reserve is larger than the smaller nunber. The
| argest nunber in the probability range is the 5 percent nunber,
meani ng there is a 95 percent chance that the reserve is smaller

than the larger nunmber. \What is usually reported and published
is the nean of these nunbers which, in this exanple, would be
60.1 tcf. The nore Iimted the geologic information the |arger

the range, he continued, and using the nmean is problematic
because it does not represent the entire distribution and the
anmount of information that is contained within any given area.

MR.  SWENSON subsequently reviewed the known and estinmated gas
reserves for Alaska's three regions: Sout hern Al aska has 2 tcf
of known reserves in Cook Inlet plus a nean estimate of 20 tcf
of undiscovered conventional gas; Central Alaska has a nean
estimate of 9 tcf of undiscovered conventional gas; and Northern
Al aska has 33 tcf of known reserves plus a nean estinmate of 150
tcf of undiscovered conventional gas. He stated that the tota
of proven, or known, gas reserves in Alaska is 36 tcf as shown
on slide 14.

2:05:34 PM

MR. SVENSON then focused attention on the exploration potentia
of the Cook Inlet. He reviewed the stratigraphy for the
Tertiary period on slide 15, noting that the Wst Foreland and
Hem ock formations house the oil reservoir, and the gas is al

reserved except for a small portion of associated free
(biogenic) gas that is located in the Tyonek, Beluga, and

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 15- February 12, 2007



Sterling formations. Referring to slide 16, he explained that
the red triangles are the volcanoes along the Aleutian Trench
associated with the subduction of the Pacific Plate underneath
the North Anerican Continent, and the blue X s are al
eart hquakes associated with the subduction.

MR. SWENSON pointed out that slide 17 is a cross section of the
subduction zone |ocated under the red line previously shown on
slide 16. He said the Pacific Plate is currently noving under
the North Anerican Plate at about the sane rate as a fingernai
grows. This is relatively fast in geologic tine, he enphasized,
and this is why there are a trenmendous nunber of earthquakes
al ong the south Al aska margin. As the Pacific Plate subducts
two things happen: it partially nelts and then rises up,
causi ng vol canoes along the Al aska Peninsula; and sedinments are
scraped off the Pacific Plate as it subducts, causing formation
of the Chugach Muntains. Between those two geol ogi ¢ phenonena,
he continued, is what is called a "forearc basin® and that is
the Cook Inlet Basin. He said the Cook Inlet Basin is unique
because there are very few forearc basins in the world that have
hydr ocar bon producti on.

2:08:31 PM

MR. SWENSON further explained that this uniqueness is because of
the source rock in the Cook Inlet Basin and because of the

t hi ckness and deformation history of the basin. Up to 95
percent of the basin's gas is what is called "biogenic" gas
whi ch cones directly from coals. The oil in the Cook Inlet is

from the Mesozoic section that underlies the entire Cook Inlet
Basi n.

MR.  SVENSON proceeded to slide 18 and the inportance of
provenance in the Cook Inlet. The basin is bounded by a series
of faults, he said, and contained within those faults is a
series of depositional environnents. Through tinme, sedinents
from the volcanic arch and the forearc basin have filled up the
Cook Inlet Basin. He pointed out that non-marine neandering
stream systens |ike the one shown on slide 19 are what filled
the Cook Inlet Basin. These types of depositional environnments,
he expl ained, create areas called crevasse splays, point bars,

and flood plain channel abandonnment. As they are buried these
deposi ti onal envi ronnent s will Create rock t hat house
hydr ocar bons. The green areas shown in the picture, he

continued, will becone coals as they are buri ed.

2:09: 57 PM

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -16- February 12, 2007



MR. SVENSON commenced to slide 20 depicting the aforenentioned
deposition in three-di nensional terns. As the basin subsides

he explained, these different depositional environnents becone
stacked on top of one another and a very conplex series of
reservoirs devel ops. He stressed that seismic imaging of this
type of depositional system can be very difficult, making it
hard to determne where a trapping configuration mght be
| ocat ed.

MR. SVENSON displayed a photograph from the Healy Mne area
north of the Alaska Range that illustrates what this type of
deposition looks like in an outcrop on |and. He expl ai ned that
the thick coal seans in the photograph would be associated with
the green areas shown on slide 19 and the sandstones inter-
bedded within the coals are from the neandering streans that
swept back and forth across the basin as it subsided.

2:11: 03 PM

MR. SWENSON then referred to slide 22 showing well logs for the
Beluga River Gas Field. He explained that this depiction
relates to the previous 3-D diagrans and is what is seen when
the well is drilled. The yellow represents the sand bodies, he
said, each of which is perforated and produces gas up into the
wel | bore. He noted that this structure of repeated coal,

sandst one, and nudstone |ayers can be up to five mles thick in
the Cook Inlet Basin and is one reason why the basin is so
prolific.

2:11:54 PM

MR. SWVENSON poi nted out that exploration in the Cook Inlet began
in the 1950s with the discovery of the Swanson River Field,
slide 24, and that there have been a nunber of discoveries since
that tinme, slide 25. There was a large spike of exploration
wells in the md-1960s, he said, and by the tinme Prudhoe Bay was
found in 1968 over 2 billion barrels of oil and alnost 8 tcf of
gas had been discovered in the Cook Inlet. Much of the
exploration activity then noved to the North Sl ope. At that
point in tinme, he explained, there was a significant anmount of
"stranded" gas in the basin, neaning there was no market for
t hat gas. He noted that gas-specific exploration did not begin
until recent tines.

2:13: 05 PM

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -17- February 12, 2007



MR. SWVENSON di scussed the graph on slide 26 portraying gas field
size distribution for the Cook Inlet. He explained that there

are a nunber of relatively small fields of 100-300 billion cubic
feet (bcf) and a nunber of large fields of 1-2 tcf, but that
there are virtually no fields in between these sizes. The
question, he said, is where are these "in-fill" fields.

2:13:46 PM

MR. SWENSON then directed the conmttee's attention to the
hi storical and projected gas production for the Cook Inlet shown
on slide 27. Based on current known reserves in the Cook Inlet
Basin, he said, projected production is now about to drop off a
cliff. He enphasized that this prediction is based only on
proven reserves in the current fields and does not incorporate
probabl e reserves or exploration reserves.

2:15:35 PM

MR. SWENSON predicted that there is nore gas to be found and it
will be found in existing fields and in new "exploration play
types.” However, he said, there are hurdles to overcone such as
the incredibly high costs of operating and drilling in an
of fshore scenario, a limted market because of the Al aska market
not being open to the Lower 48 nmarket, and conplicated |and
access.

MR. SVENSON spoke about the gas exploration potential in the
Cook Inlet pointing out the following on slide 29: 1) Only
structural traps have been explored for and devel oped;
stratigraphic trap potential remains untapped; 2) Eighty-five
percent of the gas discovered early in the exploration cycle was
found while drilling for oil; 3) Only 70 exploration wells have
been drilled for gas, and those were drilled very recently; 4)
Four of the largest fields have 86 percent of the reserves; and
5) Field-size distribution |acks discoveries in the 300-1300 bcf
range with the question being whether this size range wll be
di scover ed.

2:17: 00 PM

MR. SWENSON noved to slide 30 showi ng diagranms of the different
oil and gas trapping mechanisns. He noted that to-date the
"exploration play type" looked at in the Cook Inlet Basin has
been limted to anticlinal traps |ike the one diagramed at the
top left of the slide. 1In the Iower left corner is a diagram of
the thrust fault, he said.

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 18- February 12, 2007



MR. SVENSON then interpreted four slides showi ng seisnc data.
He explained that the seismc data on slide 31 shows the
incredibly large folds at Granite Point in the north Cook Inlet
Basi n. He noted that the next type of exploration play is down
"of f-structure” in stratigraphic traps. Slide 32, he continued,
shows what geologists call "low hanging fruit,” neaning the
North Cook Inlet Field has <classic "direct hydr ocar bon
indicators" (DHIs). The gas field is located at the top left of
the slide, he said, and is indicated by the two bunps in the

| ower part of the seismic line. The velocity of the seismc
signal slows down when it goes through gas, creating what
geol ogi sts call gas "push-down." This "push-down" shows up as a

dip in the seismc data, he explained, indicating there is a
thick gas columm above the dip. On slide 33 he pointed out the
"flat spots" that indicate a contact between gas and water, and
that this gas is trapped rather than free.

2:19: 59 PM

MR. SWVENSON, responding to questions, stated that he thought the
size of the North Cook Inlet Field shown in slide 32 is a
reservoir of about 1.2 tcf of gas, and that both the Sterling
and upper Beluga sections have nultiple layers that contain gas.
He reiterated that while there has been a significant anount of
exploration in the Cook Inlet Basin, these early phases of
exploration were only for oil, not gas. O her than the 70
recently drilled wells, he said, there has not been a concerted
effort to specifically |ook for gas.

2:21: 44 PM

MR. SVENSON turned to the seismc data shown on slide 34. He
pointed to the area of the slide where the sand, coal, and
nmudstone layers "pinch-out" laterally and "up-dip." He
explained that if there is a viable seal in the pinch-out area,
this would constitute a stratigraphic trap. He noted that this
type of play has not yet been significantly |ooked for in the
Cook Inlet Basin, but that part of the play in Prudhoe Bay is a
stratigraphic trap. He further explained that the volunme of gas
contained in this type of stratigraphic trap depends on the seal
capacity and the height of the hydrocarbon colum. If the
stratigraphic traps are a very low angle, he said, the volune
can be relatively |arge.

2:22:51 PM

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -19- February 12, 2007



MR. SVENSON reported that in 2006 the Division of Geological &
Ceophysical Surveys initiated a study of the entire Cook Inlet
Basi n. He displayed four photographs, slides 35-38, of the
stratigraphy in exposed |andforns near Fritz Creek, Fox River,
Honer, and Dianond Gulch — areas |ocated along the edge of Cook

Inl et Basin. He explained that this stratigraphy extends all
the way through the Cook Inlet Basin, so the basin's geol ogy can
be determ ned by studying these exposed | andforns. He further

explained that the exploration potential of the |andforns
t hensel ves is | essened because the stratigraphy is uplifted and
exposed. M. Swenson displayed seismc data on slide 39 and
explained that the division's main focus is to identify and
publish the geology of the basin's edge. This geology wll be
very inportant for "non-structural play types" in the Cook Inlet
Basi n, he said.

MR. SVENSON thanked Veritas  Geophysi cal Corporation for
providing seisnmc data to the division. He noted that the data
is provided through an agreenent between Veritas and the
Departnent of Natural Resources. He said use of this data is
extrenely inportant to state geologists because it gives them
the ability to "get into the subsurface" and to use the exposed
outcrops for extrapolating the information into the Cook Inlet
Basi n.

MR. SWENSON next explained that the purple line around the |and
and water of Cook Inlet on slide 42 delineates the Tertiary Gas
Potential Fairway. Areas outside of the line have limted gas
exploration potential. He noted that the different colors for
and on the map indicate their status: light green is federa
acreage, pink is Alaska Native Cains Settlenent Act (ANCSA)
acreage, and blue is state acreage. Al of the offshore acreage
al so belongs to the state, he said.

2:25:28 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON asked why Kachenmak Bay, east of Honer, is
of such interest to gas conpanies given that it is |ocated
out side of the high gas potential boundary.

2:25:41 PM
MR. SWENSON related that the interest is only because Kachenak
Bay is located on the basin's edge. He explained that in a

bi ogenic gas system it is inportant to have a relatively thick
stratigraphy to accunul ate enough gas to mgrate into the traps.

HOUSE RES COW TTEE - 20- February 12, 2007



However, the Tertiary sedinent is thin in Kachenak Bay, so it
was excluded fromthe area of high potential, he said.

MR. SWENSON next referred to the 2006 Cook Inlet Areaw de Sale
depicted on slide 43. He advised the conmttee to keep in mnd
the boundary shown on the previous slide as nenbers |ooked at

the |ease |ocations. The tracts shown in dark blue were
purchased during the 2006 sale, he said, and the pink 1is
previously owned tracts. He specifically pointed out that all

of the state acreage along the Sterling H ghway was sold in the
2006 sale and that there is significant potential for |[|ands
adj acent to those state |eases.

MR. SVENSON then directed the conmttee's attention to non-
conventional exploration gas and stressed that this would be an
important part of increasing the amobunt of reserves in the Cook
Inl et Basin. Slide 44 illustrates a "stacked pay" well where
the shallow gas is at a |lower pressure than the deeper gas. He
said this requires the running of two or three "conpletion

strings" to keep the two pressure zones separate. If a
gas/water contact noves into the well bore, he explained, the
wat er causes significant production problens. To shut off the
wat er the producer nust go through the very expensive process of
pulling the entire tubing string out of the well. He advi sed
that going back and fixing "watered-out” wells in the Cook Inlet
will be one way for increasing production fromknown reserves.
2:28:58 PM

MR. SVENSON reported that tight gas sands, illustrated on slide
46, are another type of non-conventional exploration gas. He

explained that "porosity" is the size or amunt of free space
bet ween the sand grains and "perneability" is how well fluid can
fl ow between those pore spaces. He noted that a nunber of well
bores in the Cook Inlet Basin have very prolific production
because they are in sands wth high porosity and high
perneability. He explained that in tight gas sands the
deliverability is significantly |ess because the porosity and
pernmeability are | ow However, he enphasized, tight gas sands
are a potential target because they have the potential to
reservoir significant resource. For exanple, he said, producing
10 mllion cubic feet per day fromwells in fractured shale was
i nconceivable 20 vyears ago. He stressed that diligent
application of new technologies is essential.

2:30:41 PM

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -21- February 12, 2007



CO- CHAIR GATTO inquired as to whether there has ever been a
major gas field that becanme exposed due to uplifting and then
subsequently vented conpletely into the atnosphere.

2:31: 09 PM

MR. SWENSON explained that the oil seep shown in the GQlf of
Al aska photograph is exactly that scenario. O course, he said,
exhuned gas fields are tougher to see than exhuned oil fields
because the evidence is not really visible. There are gas seeps
all around, he explained, including one that was recently
di scovered by the division in the Port Mller area of Bristol
Bay.

2:31:57 PM

CO CHAIR GATTO asked if it is possible to establish the date of
a nassive venting and correlate whether that venting led to a
warmng trend so as to determine whether man's contribution to
gl obal warm ng is significant or not.

2:32: 32 PM

MR. SWENSON advised that while he had not seen any actual
cal cul ati ons, he assunmed that the anpbunt of mnethane generated by
bi odegradation at the earth's surface is far nore than the
rel ease from one gas field. For exanple, he said, the Susitna
Basin produces an astounding anount of methane, and all across
the state bubbles can be seen coming up fromthe tundra.

2:33: 17 PM

COCHAIR JOHNSON queried as to whether new technology is
actively being devel oped by the industry.

2:33:41 PM

MR. SWENSON stressed that the oil conpanies are being very
diligent in this regard. The use of technology in the Cook
Inlet Basin nmust be put into the context of the initial reserve
anount of 8.2 tcf of gas, he explained. At that tinme, the
anount of deliverability from those fields was trenendous, but
the nmarket was only just devel oping. As the deliverability
starts approaching the "off-take,” or the nmarket, those
technologies will start comng into effect. He enphasi zed that
as time goes on, technology will play an inportant role in

addi ng reserves to the Cook Inlet Basin.

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -22- February 12, 2007



2:34:55 PM

CO CHAIR JOHNSON asked what is the reality of running out of
gas.

2:35: 20 PM

MR. SWENSON stated that the market drives the anount of
exploration — what the market is willing to handle in volune as
well as the price. Much of the exploration from this point
forward, he said, wll require additional investnent by the
exploration conpanies. The ability to have access to the market
at a fair price is going to be incredibly inportant. He
enphasized that there is definitely significant resource
potential in the Cook Inlet. However, he warned, the hurdles
toward that exploration can be onerous. These hurdl es include
land access, the cost of drilling, the cost of seisnc
acquisition, and the permtting. Concerning actually running

out of gas, he stated that any hydrocarbon is a finite resource
assum ng that all of the resource has been identified — and that
is really the key point.

2:36:46 PM

CO CHAIR JOHNSON noted that the |egislature has control over the
hurdle of permtting and ensuring that it happens in a
responsi bl e way.

ADJ QURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House
Resources Standing Conmittee neeting was adjourned at 2:37:21
PM

HOUSE RES COW TTEE -23- February 12, 2007



